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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	Mrs J M Hattersley.

	Scheme
	IPS Pension Builder.

	Respondent 
	IPS Pensions Limited (“IPS”)
(formerly known as IPS Actuarial Services Limited before 3 May 2007).


Subject

Mrs Hattersley has complained that:

· IPS misrepresented its relationship with the formerly associated IFA on whose advice she relied when buying the Keydata Secure Income Bond (“Keydata SIB”);

· her self-invested personal pension (“SIPP”) lost approximately £20,000 due to the inclusion of the Keydata SIB, which was not an eligible investment for a SIPP but despite this IPS allowed the investment;

· apart from the loss of investment, the ineligibility of the Keydata SIB is now preventing her from transferring her SIPP to a more competitive provider;

· IPS shared sensitive information with the formerly associated IFA after July 2009 contrary to instructions given by her husband.

The Deputy Pensions Ombudsman's determination and short reasons

The complaint should not be upheld against IPS because:

· notwithstanding it is tenuous as to whether the relationship between IPS and the formerly associated IFA is connected to the administration of the Scheme itself, there was no wilful misrepresentation by IPS about its relationship with the formerly associated IFA.  But even if there had been, the action by Mrs Hattersley of appointing the formerly associated IFA as her financial adviser, as a standalone act, does not by itself cause her any injustice.  Any subsequent action taken by Mrs Hattersley based on her dealings with the formerly associated IFA is a matter between her and the formerly associated IFA and it is too remote to link any subsequent loss(es) connected to any advice with her perception of IPS’s and the formerly associated IFA’s relationship.
· it was reasonable for IPS to rely on the product provider’s literature when carrying out a basic check on whether the Keydata SIB was eligible (even though the product provider’s literature has turned out to be misleading);

· the inability to transfer to a different SIPP provider is the result of the ineligible investment rather than due to any prevention being caused by IPS;

· there is no evidence that sensitive information was shared with the formerly associated IFA after 17 July 2009.

JURISDICTION
Misrepresentation of relationship

1. Mrs Hattersley claims IPS misrepresented its relationship with the formerly associated IFA in 2005 and as a consequence she relied on / trusted the advice from the formerly associated IFA.  Latterly there has been some inference that IPS is somehow connected to or partly responsible for the marketing / selling of the investment.  But the marketing and any advice associated with selling of a pension or an investment, which is a regulated activity, does not fall into my jurisdiction.  Any complaint about that issue would be a matter for the Financial Services Ombudsman (“FOS”).
2. The releasing of information (i.e. the passing on of Mrs Hattersley’s name and address) from the Scheme by IPS in 2005 could be regarded as an administrative act in relation to the Scheme.  However, Mrs Hattersley has not specifically complained as such about the disclosure of her name and address in 2005.  But in any event Mrs Hattersley knew about that in 2005 and as that event happened more than three years ago she would now be time-barred from bringing that complaint.  Instead Mrs Hattersley has framed her complaint about IPS’s and the formerly associated IFA’s relationship.  Any relationship between IPS and the formerly associated IFA concerning Mrs Hattersley appears to have been ongoing until July 2009 when instructions were given to IPS not to disclose any further details about her pension to the formerly associated IFA.  Further observations about their relationship and how it was represented are discussed in the conclusions.  Nevertheless each representation will be considered in isolation to consider if there was maladministration and, if so, what injustice (if any) that representation caused.  It should be noted, though, that any causal linkage to the eventual advice / selling of this investment is not a matter within my jurisdiction.
DETAILED DETERMINATION

Statutory Legislation

3. The Personal Pension Schemes (Restriction on Discretion to Approve) (Permitted Investments) Regulations 2001 [S.I. 2001 No.: 117] (“the 2001 Regulations”) say,

 “6.
Restriction on investments – self-invested personal pension schemes

(1)
No investment may be held directly or indirectly for the purposes of a self-invested personal pension scheme other than the investments listed in the Schedule to these Regulations”.

4. The Schedule in the 2001 Regulations in respect of regulation 6 lists the investments that may be held directly or indirectly for the purposes of a SIPP Scheme and among other things states,

“1.
Stocks and shares listed or dealt with on a recognised stock exchange.

…

8.
Interests (however described) in a collective investment scheme that is either a recognised scheme or a designated scheme within the meaning of section 86 or 87 of the Financial Services Act 1986.

9.
Contracts or policies of insurance linked to insurance company managed funds, unit-linked funds or investment funds of an insurance company resident in the United Kingdom or authorised in accordance with Article 6 of Council Directive 79/267 (First Council Directive on Direct Life Assurance)(a).

10.
Traded endowment policies transacted with a person regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

…”

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) Guidance

5. HMRC Personal Pension Schemes Guidance Notes, coded IR76, were still in force at the relevant time this investment was made.  Part 11 of IR76 said,

“11.1
This Part is concerned with the investments that personal pension schemes and in particular self-invested personal pensions (SIPPs) are permitted to make and the restrictions that are imposed on those investments.  Such investments are governed by The Personal Pension Schemes (Restriction on Discretion to Approve) (Permitted Investments) Regulations 2001 (SI 2001/117) which came into force on 6 April 2001”.

11.2
A SIPP is an arrangement within a personal pension scheme, in which the member has the power to direct how the contributions are invested. Members may make choices about what assets are bought, leased or sold, and decide when those assets are acquired or disposed of.  The role of the scheme administrator in this situation is to control what is happening and to ensure that the requirements for tax approval continue to be met.

11.3
The term ‘self-invested personal pension scheme’ is widely used in the pensions industry and is defined in Regulation 3 of The Investment Regulations (SI 2001/117).  The name is used in the sense of ‘member directed’ investments rather than narrowly in the sense of investing in one’s own business etc.  However it does not include arrangements where the member merely has the right to choose the type of funds they want from a range of funds offered to any person (See Regulation 3(2) of The Investment Regulations (SI 2001/117).

…

11.8
There is a wide range of investments available to SIPPs.  The investments are governed by The Investment Regulations (SI 2001/117).  A list of permitted and prohibited investments is at Appendix 24 and Appendix 25 respectively. Such restrictions are necessary because, for example, of the requirement of section 633 for the scheme to have the sole purpose of providing benefits for retirement. The member cannot receive any benefits from the scheme other than in the prescribed forms.

6. Appendix 24 and 25 of IR76 set out the permitted and not permitted investments for SIPPs respectively.  They reflect the 2001 Regulations but are shown in the Appendix to this document for completeness.

Product Literature for the Keydata SIB (Issue 1)

7. Mrs Hattersley has submitted two versions of the brochure for Keydata’s Secure Income Bond (Issue 1); Keydata’s 16‑page standard brochure and the 12‑page branded brochure by the formerly associated IFA.  The wording in the first 8 pages is very similar on both brochures.  The wording of the ‘Key Features’ section of the standard Keydata SIB brochure is 5 pages in length (pages 9-13) and includes references to Personal Equity Plans and Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs) whereas the ‘Key Features’ section of the formerly associated IFA branded brochure is only 3 pages in length (pages 9-11).  Unlike the standard version which under the product of the Key Features section says “The Secure Income Bond is a sterling denominated bond listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  This makes it eligible for direct, SIPP, PEP and ISA investment”, there is no corresponding section in the Key Features section of the formerly associated IFA branded version of the brochure.  The Terms and Conditions (covering 29 headings) of the standard brochure are two pages in length whereas the formerly associated IFA version has 28 headings and is one page in length.  Comments have been submitted about the brochure and so extracts have been included here.  Mrs Hattersley says she did not see the standard versions of the brochure prior to 2009 and thinks the IPS branded versions of it must be exclusively used.  Since Mrs Hattersley bought her Keydata SIB through the formerly associated IFA extracts have been taken from that brouchure (as opposed to the ‘standard’ one).
From page 3

“Enjoy fixed income or growth over the next 5 years

…

The Secure Income Bond is highly attractive because it offers a higher level of fixed income without that uncomfortable level of risk from investing in equities or corporate bonds.  The assets it invests in, cash and insurance contracts, are not linked in any way to the stock market and are issued by insurance companies that are rated ‘A’ or better by leading rating agencies.  This makes it lower risk than many traditional stock market linked income investments (see Generating Income and Capital Security).”

From page 4

“Generating Income and Capital Security

The money in the Secure Income Bond is invested in a combination of cash and a portfolio of insurance contracts.  Income is created through interest on cash and the sale or maturity of the insurance contracts.  Insurance contracts are widely recognised to mature at a predictable point in time allowing the flexibility to sell the contracts at a premium or wait until they mature to generate profits within the bond.  The combination of initial cash and profits from the sale and maturity of insurance contracts allows income payments and a full return of capital at maturity.  The contracts within the bond have a fixed maturity value and are brought at a discount to this, creating the potential for high income.

The return of your capital does not depend on the performance of the stock market but at the rate at which the insurance contracts pay out within the bond.  Because it is possible to ‘model’ how insurance contracts mature, the risk level of the Secure Income Bond is reduced because the returns are more predictable than with stock market investments (the Secure Income Bond uses an actuarial model developed by KPMG).  The risk to your investment is whether the companies issuing the insurance contracts default on their financial obligations – or put more simply go into liquidation.

You should be reassured that the insurance contracts within the Bond are issued by financial institutions with a minimum credit rating of ‘A’ (Source: Standard & Poor’s or equivalent).  The current portfolio has over 90% invested in contracts issued by companies rated AA or better including AIG, GE Life and Prudential.”

From page 5

“Strong Management

We believe that the balance of cash and insurance contracts within the bond offers an attractive combination of higher levels of income and lower levels of risk.  In order to provide sufficient checks and balances the Secure Income Bond has been structured as an institutional investment ensuring your investment delivers value you expect.

HSBC (AA-rated by Standard & Poor’s) – Trading of the insurance contracts is overseen by HSBC who ensure that contracts carry sufficient credit ratings.  Once bought, HSBC own the contracts as trustees for the Bond.

KPMG – One of the ‘big four’ accountancy firms KPMG constructed the financial models used to structure the Bond.  It also checks the credit ratings of the insurance companies issuing the contracts and monitors the credit rating of the portfolio of investments.

MeesPierson Intertrust – part of the Fortis Group which isA rated, and acts as Custodians, Bond Registrar and Payment Administrator of the Bond.”

From page 7

“Is there any risk?

… you should understand that your capital is not guaranteed and that your investment is not instantly accessible without penalty during the term of the Bond.

Your capital is at risk in the following circumstances:

· If the insurance companies issuing the insurance contracts default on their obligations

· If the issuer of the Bond goes into liquidation

· If factors change which affect the rate at which insurance contracts mature.”
From page 9

“Key Features

…

YOUR INVESTMENT

Your commitment is to be prepared to hold your investment for the full 5 years, until 30 September 2010.  The minimum amount you can invest in the Secure Income Bond is £4,000.

…

Your money will be invested in a bond where the assets are a mix of cash and insurance contracts from institutions rated a minimum ‘A’ by Standard and Poor’s or equivalent.

The bond will provide you with income or growth payments and maturity proceeds at the end of the investment term.  The Issuer of the Bond will have a current Standard and Poor’s or equivalent rating of ‘A’ or better.

Under the terms of the Bond, some of the insurance contracts will mature during the term creating income and capital and further contracts will be sold immediately prior to maturity to ensure Bond returns are met as required.

…

Your Questions answered

…

WHO CAN INVEST?

UK investors aged 18 and over can invest via the Direct Investment option or SIPP and SSAS.  …”
From the last page (page 12)

“Terms & Conditions

1.
Definitions

In these terms the following words mean:

“Account Manager”
Keydata Investment Services Limited.
“Effective Date”
30 September 2005
“Keydata”
Keydata Investment Services Limited.
“Securities”
Bond listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
“SIB”
Secure Income Bond.
“We”, “us” & “our”
Keydata Investment Services Limited, which is authorised and regulated by the FSA (the Financial Services Authority).

…

5.
Permitted Investments:

The Securities available under the SIB is a Bond denominated in Sterling.  Your investment objective is to invest in a Bond, which is expected to be at least ‘A’ rated and issued to meet the aims of the SIB.  The Account Manager confirms that it will be acting as your agent in arranging for the purchase of these Securities and accordingly acknowledge and confirm on behalf of any issuer, its affiliates and directors (together the ‘Issuer’) that it does not act as agent for the Issuer and that any offer of securities is not authorised by any Issuer and is made without the Issuer’s knowledge or prior approval.
6.
Cash held within your SIB
Cash will be held in a pooled Keydata designated Client Account with a bank (which is not an associate of the Account Manager).  Interest earned on cash deposits will be credited to your SIB net of any tax where applicable. …

7.
Investment

All cash (and interest earned prior to the effective date) net of any tax where applicable received by us for investment in your SIB will be applied to purchase Securities in permitted investments.  Investment … ”
Material Facts

8. On 29 October 1999 Mrs Hattersley completed and signed an application form for the IPS Pension Builder.  At Section N (Transfer Declaration) of that form it stated,

“I agree:

a)
that I am solely responsible for all decisions relating to the purchase, retention and sale of the investments forming part of the Scheme in respect of my arrangement(s) under the Scheme;

b)
to hold Nationwide Building Society and Union Pension Trustees Limited fully indemnified against any claim in respect of such decisions.

IPS Actuarial Services Limited as Scheme Administrator agrees to administer the Scheme on behalf of the Provider, Nationwide Building Society.”
9. Mrs Hattersley also signed a fee agreement allowing the administrator, IPS, to ask the Trustees to draw funds from the Nationwide account.
10. Mrs Hattersley (as the Member) and Union Pension Trustees Limited (as the Trustee) executed a deed on 1 November 1999 to admit Mrs Hattersley to membership of the Scheme.  Mrs Hattersley agreed to comply with the provisions of the Trust Deed and Rules.  For the purpose of the Member’s Fund the Trustee and the Member were joint trustees.  The deed said in clause 5 that they “shall act unanimously for the purposes of the provision of any benefits or the investments of any contributions or transfer payments received by the Scheme in respect of the Member”.

11. IPS has not explicitly provided any terms or conditions in respect of its services.  Nonetheless, they have provided an IPS Pension Builder booklet / guide from 1995 and say this would be similar to the type issued to Mrs Hattersley when she opened her SIPP in November 1999.  The booklet would have been issued along with the application form, fee arrangement and deed.  Amongst other things, the 1995 booklet provides the fee structure and the services supplied for that fee.  It stated that additional fees would be chargeable for those services not listed.  The services listed were as follows.

· Preparation of Supplemental Deed and copies of Establishing Trust Deed and Rules

· Opening of Nationwide Building Society PortfolioInvestor Account

· Appointment and provision of Union Pension Trustees Limited as Trustee.

· Dealing with regular correspondence with the Inland Revenue and issuing of annual PPC Certificate

· Maintenance of records including correspondence and PortfolioInvestor Account statements

· Reclaim of income tax on contributions annually.

12. IPS says that between 1991 and 1998 IPS and the formerly associated IFA were sister companies.  In 1998 (when there was a management buy-out) business ties between the two ceased, aside from the fact that many clients of IPS continued to receive advice from the formerly associated IFA.

13. On 30 November 2004 the formerly associated IFA wrote to Mrs Hattersley (and her husband) enclosing annuity quotations that they had requested.  The letterhead paper for the formerly associated IFA has two addresses shown in it; an address in London (from where the formerly associated IFA traded) and another in Bristol.  Mrs Hattersley has pointed out that the Bristol address and telephone number shown is the same address and telephone number for IPS in Bristol.

14. Mrs Hattersley says she believes her details were given to the formerly associated IFA by IPS following some queries she made at that time to IPS about annuities.  She says they presented themselves as part of the same group and she believed they were in effect one and the same.

15. Further, Mrs Hattersley says she (along with her husband) visited IPS’s Bristol office on 29 March 2005 to discuss her SIPP and as well as meeting an employee from IPS they also talked to an employee (JF) from the formerly associated IFA about her SIPP and her financial plans in an office that she believed was his (JF’s).

16. In a letter dated 26 July 2005 (“the July 2005 letter”) to Mrs Hattersley, IPS said,

“As part of our involvement in the above pension scheme we have always felt it appropriate indeed vital that you are kept abreast of new deposit related products and other suitable pension fund investments.  However, as we are not authorised to give advice on regulated products, we are unable to give you details of many of these arrangements.  Given the importance of this matter, we propose that [the formerly associated IFA] periodically forward this information to you.

[the formerly associated IFA] are a regulated firm with whom we have a formalised arrangement to provide such advice to our clients.  This relationship has spanned almost a decade during which time they have generated many of the investment ideas that have been proposed in the past.

[the formerly associated IFA ] will not bombard you with correspondence but will contact you with investment suggestions from time to time.  You will be under no obligation to use their services but you may find some of their ideas interesting.

If you would prefer that we do not pass your details to [the formerly associated IFA] for this purpose please notify us within 21 days of this letter”.

17. Mrs Hattersley says that she did not read the July 2005 letter within the time period specified in that letter (nor did her husband who received a similar letter) because they were on an extended holiday in Scotland.  So they did not reply.  As a result her details were supplied to the formerly associated IFA.

18. As a direct consequence in August / September 2005 Mrs Hattersley was sent details of the Keydata SIB product by the formerly associated IFA.  Mrs Hattersley says this included an ‘Instruction to Invest’ form already pre-printed with IPS address details given.

19. The Keydata SIB was a product offered by a UK company called Keydata Investment Services Limited (“Keydata”).

20. On 16 September 2005 Mrs Hattersley wrote a letter to IPS saying she had “applied for £20,000 shares in the Keydata SIB and a request for this amount will come to you from JF at IPS Consultants”. 
21. An ‘Instruction to Invest’ form signed by Mrs Hattersley on 16 September was subsequently faxed to IPS on 19 September 2005.  The fax number shown at the top of that form is that of the formerly associated IFA.  That form stated that Mrs Hattersley instructed IPS to complete the necessary application forms to invest in the Keydata SIB.

22. The Application Form for the Keydata SIB (Issue 1) in respect of SIPPs and SSASs had a closing date of 16 September 2005.  The quarterly income option of 2% for the Keydata SIB was chosen and the form was signed by two directors of Union Pension Trustees Limited.  A cheque for £20,000 was drawn on 20 September 2005.
23. Keydata Investments Services Limited received £20,000 on 23 September 2005.  Statements produced by them on 18 October 2005 stated that this money purchased securities on 30 September 2005.  The statement simply refers to “Secure Income Bond” and does not refer to an IPS version of that product.  The statement also stated the client as “IPS Pension Builder Re: J M Hattersley” and said any queries should be referred to the financial adviser, the formerly associated IFA.  Though the money was received after the closing date it seems Keydata accepted the application for a Keydata SIB (Issue 1).
24. IPS has confirmed that Mrs Hattersley started drawdown from her SIPP on 25 July 2007.

25. IPS says that Keydata was subsequently subject to a catastrophic corporate failure, which has been well documented in the press and financial media.

26. On 8 June 2009 the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”) placed Keydata into administration and suspended the firm from carrying out any regulated activities because they had concerns about the firm’s financial position.  They wanted to protect customers while a full assessment was carried out and appointed insolvency specialists.  Two employees from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) were appointed joint administrators from that date.

27. On 30 June 2009 the FSA announced that:

“PricewaterhouseCoopers, the administrator of Keydata Investment Services (Keydata), has announced today that it has had to freeze some interest payments and some redemption rights to anyone that owns the following Keydata products:

· Secure Income Bond 1, 2 and 3

…

Keydata operates from three locations in London, Glasgow and Reading.  It designs, distributes and administers its own structured investment products; and also portfolios for third parties.”

28. PwC produced a document entitled “Keydata Investment Services Limited Questions and Answers – 02/07/09” which was displayed on their website.  It said,

“Keydata Investment Services Limited (in administration) (“KIS”)

This is an update produced on 2 July and supplements (or, as appropriate, supersedes) the other questions and answers documents on this website.

Questions and answers – 2/07/09

What is the current position regarding KIS?

Since their appointment, the Administrators of KIS have been working towards selling the business in order to provide continuity for investors.  However, potential issues have just come to light which mean that a sale of the Company as a whole will now not be possible.  These issues are explained further below.

…

Which products are affected?

KIS products fall into six groups, number 1 to 6 below.

KIS’s own products and Lifemark’s products

1.
KIS Life Settlement Products invested with SLS Capital S.A. (“SLS”) (£103m invested)

These are products which invested in US life insurance contracts through a bond listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  Income from these underlying investments was then used to pay investors.

In the last few days the Administrators have become aware that income on these products has not been paid by SLS since October 2008.  No investor has so far suffered an income shortfall as a result of this non-payment as the gap was filled by KIS’s own corporate funds.

The Administrators have been unable to satisfy themselves as to the safe custody of the underlying assets in SLS and, indeed, information received over the weekend suggests that the assets have been liquidated and may have been misappropriated.  The Administrators are now working with the authorities in an effort to trace the funds.

For the time being no income payments or redemptions on these products will be possible.  The products affected are listed below.  It is understood that some 5,500 investors are impacted.

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND – GROWTH (ISSUE 1)

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND – INCOME (ISSUE 1)

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND 2 – GROWTH 

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND 2 – INCOME

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND 2 – QUARTERLY INCOME (USD)

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND 3 – GROWTH

· KEYDATA SECURE INCOME BOND 3 – INCOME

2.
…

3.
…
4.
…
5.
…
6.
…
…

Why have I stopped receiving income on my investment?

The processing of income on certain KIS products, detailed above, has been suspended while the Administrators and authorities seek to trace the underlying investments.  The Administrators have established that income on these products was being paid out of KIS’s own cash, rather than out of income on the underlying investments.  This appears to have been the case since October 2008.  This arrangement was potentially harmful to the interests of KIS’s creditors as a whole and the Administrators have ended it with immediate effect.  As a result, investors in these products will stop receiving income.  The Administrators realise that this may cause difficulties for investors.  However it is a necessary action while investigations continue.

…

Is this money protected by FSCS?

The cash held by KIS is intact.  For issues with the underlying investments, the Administrators have been in contact with FSCS so that, if there is compensation for FSCS to pay, it can step in as quickly as possible.  If that happens, the Administrators and FSCS will work together to ensure that investors know how to make a claim for compensation.

…”

29. Mrs Hattersley’s husband has said he became aware of situation at the beginning of July 2009 but he did not inform his wife until the autumn of 2009.  Mr Hattersley sent a letter to IPS Pensions Limited on 17 July 2009 giving instructions that he did not want them to discuss anything about him or his wife with the formerly associated IFA.

30. Mrs Hattersley’s son obtained a printout of prices for the Keydata SIB (Issue 2) on 22 September 2009.  That printout gave unit prices for the year 2006 and quoted a price for the various options.  This included prices for ‘quarterly’ and ‘quarterly IPS’.  No prices have been submitted in respect of Keydata SIB (Issue 1) which was the product that Mrs Hattersley had invested in.
31. On 13 November 2009 the FSA announced that,

“The FSCS has announced today that it will contact Keydata investors to let them know that they can start making claims for compensation on the following products:

· 
Secure Income Bond 1, 2 and 3

If you have invested in any of these products, the FSCS will write to you confirming that you can make a claim for compensation, up to £48,000, in relation to your whole investment.  The FSCS will consider all claims on a case by case basis.

…

For full details about the process of making a claim for compensation on all the above products please see the FSCS website.”

32. Mrs Hattersley’s husband says that his investigations into the IPS companies, their relationship with Keydata and the circumstances surrounding the bond continued into 2010 and by the summer of 2010 he started to realize that the bond was not an eligible investment for his and his wife’s SIPP.

33. On 2 September 2010 Mrs Hattersley (along with her husband and son) wrote to IPS as all three had been sold versions of the Keydata SIB product by the formerly associated IFA.  Having earlier made a ‘Subject Data Request’, she raised several issues.  Further questions were asked about the relationship between IPS and the formerly associated IFA; what personal data had been shared in 2004/05; that personal data had been supplied in September 2009 (i.e. two months after he had written in July 2009) in breach of the Data Protection Act 1998; she had doubts whether the Keydata SIB would qualify for inclusion into a SIPP.  On this last point, Mrs Hattersley enquired about what work IPS did in 2005 to classify the bond and assess whether it was eligible for inclusion in 2005 and what other parties they may have relied upon in forming their view.

34. Following a reminder letter from her husband on 6 October and telephone conversation, IPS replied to Mr Hattersley on 26 November 2010.  This final response letter was subsequently revised by another consolidated version.

35. Mrs Hattersley’s son subsequently made a complaint to IPS in respect of his father, mother and himself by email on 9 December 2010.  They said they felt their complaints remained unresolved and reiterated those areas that they felt remained unanswered.  In particular, they challenged IPS about the companies’ relationship (noting therein that during earlier discussions between IPS and Mrs Hattersley’s son that IPS suggested there may have been no formal business agreement as mentioned in the July 2005 letter and that these things just happened through informal relationships between employees sharing a common corporate history), and stated they believed personal data had been disclosed and referred to a fax sent by IPS to the formerly associated IFA on 16 September 2009 comprising detailed information about Dr B Hattersley’s SSAS arrangements.  They also pointed to the fact that attendance notes of meetings between Mr and Mrs Hattersley and IPS from 22 January 2008 and 22 February 2008 were held on the formerly associated IFA’s files.  Further, the matter of suitability of the Keydata investments was not the issue.  Their question was clearly about eligibility and said,

“We believe IPS Pensions is responsible for the eligibility of investments into the IPS SIPP and are paid to do this.  Since the product in question was the IPS version of the Keydata Secure Income Bond; and this was a discrete product in the Keydata range that was promoted, advised and sold by no entity other than IPS, we assume IPS Pensions would have relied on [the formerly associated IFA] regarding its eligibility.”

36. IPS replied to Mrs Hattersley (and the other two complainants) on 5 January 2011.  IPS noted she had been involved in extended correspondence with them about her Keydata investment and the need for her to receive clarification of how to progress her claim against the formerly associated IFA.  They informed her that it was not appropriate for Union Pension Trustees Limited or IPS to be a party to any claim against the formerly associated IFA because any claim would relate to the advice provided by the formerly associated IFA to Mrs Hattersley as an investor.  This was in contrast to a claim against Keydata brought via the Financial Service Compensation Scheme (“FSCS”), which required Union Pension Trustees Limited to be a party by virtue of being the legal owner of the assets held under trust with the Scheme.  

37. In their letter of 5 January they also confirmed that the two companies (IPS and the formerly associated IFA) were distinct and separate legal entities but before 1998 they were previously linked.  From 1998 all financial ties between the two firms had ceased.  Nevertheless many clients had plans administered by them where the formerly associated IFA continued to give advice.  However, IPS also dealt with many other advisory firms whose clients’ pensions they administered.  It did not automatically follow that IPS was formally or legally affiliated with those firms but that there was a mutual client.  As such, IPS did not share its office or address with any other unconnected firm though the formerly associated IFA or another advisory firm might certainly arrange to visit IPS’s offices to discuss a mutual client and his or her affairs.  Consequently there should be no sharing of data between IPS and the formerly associated IFA unless a Scheme Member is also a client of the formerly associated IFA, in which case the formerly associated IFA would be entitled to client data by virtue of being the Scheme Member’s appointed financial advisor.  IPS went on to say,

“I was therefore concerned to note the comments made by your son in his email dated 09 December 2010.  Accordingly, if you are able to provide evidence of information being passed to [the formerly associated IFA] following your explicit instruction … to cease such activity, then I would ask that you forward this to me so that I may investigate further.

As your son had previously declined to provide me with this information, my only recourse was to review your client file for myself.  Having done so, whilst the Member file contained prominent note stating that no further information should be provided to [the formerly associated IFA], I was unable to find evidence of client data being passed to [the formerly associated IFA] post July 2009.  I am therefore unable to comment further on this point beyond reiterating what you already know.

Therefore with respect to the transfer of information between IPS and [the formerly associated IFA] in 2004/05 the only details supplied to [the formerly associated IFA] without your prior consent, would have been your name and address.  Any information provided to [the formerly associated IFA] following their appointment as a Scheme Member’s financial advisor would of course, be perfectly permissible.  On this point, whilst it is unacceptable that client data should be cascaded to an unconnected firm without client consent, it is also true that the decision to appoint [the formerly associated IFA] would nonetheless remain with the Scheme Member, as would the decision to accept any investment advice that might later be provided via the relationship.

I appreciate that this does not vindicate IPS Pensions Ltd’s conduct, however, and I am sincerely sorry that your personal details were cascaded to [the formerly associated IFA] without your initial consent.  …”.
38. On the subject of eligibility and suitability of the Keydata investment, IPS said,

“… IPS Pensions Ltd is not and has never been authorised by the FSA (or previous regulator) to provide financial advice nor to comment on the suitability of a particular product.  Instead IPS Pensions Ltd acts as the Scheme Administrator and thus, the “receiver” and “transmitter” of instructions received from its clients or their appointed financial advisers.  Whilst IPS Pensions Ltd does not actually execute client orders the duty of care that it owes its clients is therefore to ensure that instructions received are transmitted promptly and accurately in accordance with the firm’s published timescales and the client’s stated intentions.

Conversely, the self-invested nature of the … Scheme means that Scheme Members are expected to play an active role in the management of their pension plans.  …

Only a prospective Scheme Member can therefore determine the suitability of a product by researching and familiarising him or herself with the Terms and Conditions of the chosen plan and investments.  This includes the applicable administrative costs and risks.

… This, however, serves to further underscore my earlier comment about advice being provided to and acted upon (or not) by the Pension Scheme Member rather than a Scheme Trustee or Administrator and by extension, why any claim in respect of the advice provided should be brought by the Scheme Member …

When I discussed this issue with your son, however, he suggested that this was not in itself a conclusive answer and whilst simply being dissatisfied with an answer does not preclude that answer from being correct, I will attempt to provide further clarity on this point.  The Keydata Secure Income Bond was not an esoteric investment recommended by a select number of niche advisors but was recognised by IPS Pensions Ltd as an HMRC permissible investment that was recommended by an FSA regulated advisor.

By extension, as it is not regulated to provide advice or to comment on the suitability of an investment, IPS Pensions Ltd’s responsibility as Scheme Administrator was thus limited to ensuring that the Keydata investment met the criteria set out by HMRC in the related Statutory Instrument.  Appendix 24 of HMRC’s Pensions Manual IR76, which was drawn from Statutory Instrument 117/2001, set out certain criteria and as the Keydata Secure Investment Bond was a structured product investing in securities listed on a recognised Stock Exchange (in this case, Luxembourg), it was deemed permissible.

As I have set out above, beyond establishing that the investment is “permissible” in HMRC terms and transmitting the client order in accordance with its published timescales, the decision to recommend and proceed with the investment, rest solely with the advisor and Scheme Member, respectively”.

39. IPS’s parent company (IFG plc) acquired James Hay Partnership in 2010.

40. Mrs Hattersley wrote jointly with her husband to IPS / James Hay on 2 April 2011 saying that following the imposition of new terms of business she had notified them that she could not accept it.  She had started the process of transferring her SIPP to Hargreaves Lansdown (“HL”) but they had informed her they could not proceed because her SIPP contained the Keydata SIB and that this was not an eligible investment to be held within her SIPP.  The Keydata SIB had matured in late 2010 but had failed to pay back her invested capital and was worthless.  Thus at present she was unable to exercise her right to move her SIPP to any other administrator.

41. Mrs Hattersley read an article from ‘IFA online’ about clients due compensation from the FSCS after investing in Keydata via their SIPP and possible tax charges.  The views expressed were from HMRC and SIPP providers, including one from the Head of Technical Support at James Hay.  Following that article, Mrs Hattersley wrote to the Head of Technical Support at James Hay on 7 April 2011 asking for his views on the eligibility of these products to be held within a SIPP as she had discovered that other SIPP providers were adamant that they were not permissible to be held within a SIPP as they were securities that were issued by an unregulated offshore entity and were never listed on any recognised Stock Exchange.

42. In reply to Mrs Hattersley’s letter of 2 April, the Compliance Manager at IPS wrote to her on 11 April acknowledging the irregular nature of her particular circumstances.  IPS confirmed that the revision of SIPP Terms and Conditions in respect of the compensation levy would not apply to her SIPP whilst this situation persisted to ensure that she was not penalised.  The standard and existing charges would continue to apply, however.

43. On 10 May 2011 the Compliance Manager at IPS replied to Mrs Hattersley’s letter of 7 April.  He felt his letters of 5 January and 11 April 2011 had already dealt with the issues of eligibility and revised terms and conditions.  Instead, he explained the difference between compensation and restitution.

44. Further correspondence between Mrs Hattersley and IPS ensued.  On 12 May 2011 Mrs Hattersley’s husband sent a letter saying that neither the Keydata SIB nor the underlying bond issued by SLS SA was ever listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (or any other).  He stated that HMRC did not list any particular product as SIPP eligible, they just required the rules to be met.  Further, as the Keydata SIB was not SIPP eligible IPS had failed in its responsibility in allowing its inclusion into the SIPP.  He also said,

“… your letter explains IPS Pensions relied on the recommendation on an FSA regulated advisor in forming its view that the Keydata SIB was eligible for inclusion in the IPS SIPP.

My SIPP’s exposure to this affair is through the IPS version of Keydata SIB issue 2 which as you know was arranged through [the formerly associated IFA].  Please state plainly which FSA regulated advisor IPS Pensions relied on in deeming my particular product eligible”.

45. IPS responded to both Mr and Mrs Hattersley by saying they had addressed fully the issue of eligibility in their letter of 5 January 2011 and had no further comment to make.

46. Mrs Hattersley brought a complaint to the FOS in July 2011 which centred on two issues; IPS’s responsibility to ensure all investments were eligible SIPP investments (and the losses stemming from the ineligibility of the Keydata SIB) and a lack of honesty about the relationship between IPS and the formerly associated IFA.  However in February 2012 FOS said the activity being complained about had to be a ‘regulated activity’ at the time of the wrongdoing and (b) the business being complained about had to be authorised/regulated at the time of the alleged wrongdoing.  They noted that (a) the establishment/administration of SIPPs did not become a regulated activity until 6 April 2007 and IPS did not become authorised/regulated until the same date.  Accordingly they considered that they did not have jurisdiction to investigate Mrs Hattersley’s complaint against IPS (as opposed to the formerly associated IFA) because the events pre‑dated 6 April 2007 (i.e. related to the administration of her SIPP in 2005).

47. Mrs Hattersley subsequently brought a complaint to my office.

48. Mrs Hattersley has submitted an email from the Free of Information team at the FSA to her son (who also had investments with Keydata) who had asked a number of questions.  The FSA suggested that the terms and conditions of the particular SLS bond that underpinned the Keydata SIB 2 product (the “Relevant Product”) were obtained from PwC.  The FSA also said,

“Please note that, with respect to your reliance on descriptions provided in Keydata’s brochures, we continue to investigate Keydata for issuing potentially misleading financial promotions (which includes the Relevant Product) and, therefore in our view, you should exercise caution when relying on their contents.  Our public statement of 30 June 2009 said that:

“The FSA has been investigating Keydata since discovering that the firm had been targeting investors with potentially misleading advertising materials and discovered a number of tax irregularities with some of Keydata’s ISA products”

…

We remain of the view that the Relevant Product invested in a corporate bond issued by SLS Capital S.A. (“SLS”) (the “SLS Bonds”).  Keydata purchased the SLS Bonds issued by SLS on behalf of investors using the funds invested into the Relevant Product.  SLS would then use these funds to buy a portfolio of life settlement policies.  We therefore agree that the underlying asset for the Relevant Product which you own is a “fractional ownership of a portfolio of life policies and cash”.  The contractual documentation which evidences that, as a result of your investment in the Relevant Product, you have a fractional ownership of the portfolio, are the terms and conditions of the SLS Bond itself, through which this relationship occurs.

With respect to your original FOI requests, as explained, it is the fact that the underlying investments of the Relevant Product (and Keydata’s other SLS products: the Secure Income Bond 1 and the Secure Income Bond 3) were investments in debt securities (i.e. the SLS Bonds issued by SLS), which results in the Relevant Product falling outside of the CIS (or UCIT) regime.

…

As stated in Ms Irving’s witness statement for Fieldglen v FSA, and referred to in your last request for information, the SLS Bonds which were issued by SLS and underpinned the Relevant Product were not, ultimately, listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange nor was there a prospectus issued.  To the extent that we are aware this contractual documentation is therefore not in the public domain.”

49. Hargreaves Lansdown Asset Management Ltd wrote to Mrs Hattersley on 11 June 2012 in reply to her letter of 6 June.  They said her Keydata SIB could not be transferred to the HL Vantage SIPP.  In addition, they were unable to transfer the rest of her funds from her IPS SIPP as it was not possible to make a partial transfer of funds which are held in an income drawdown policy.

50. On 12 June HL wrote to Mrs Hattersley’s husband in response to his telephone conversation with them and said that irrespective of whether the above mentioned investment was classified a structured product or an instrument of debt, as it was unlisted they were unable to accept it. 

51. In a letter dated 2 April 2013 to Mrs Hattersley’s son, PwC replied on behalf of Keydata Investment Services Limited – in Administration (“the Company”) and said,

“You have asked for clarification of certain points relating to a product in which your family invested; SIB 2, which was backed by securities issued by SLS Capital S.A. (In Liquidation) (“SLS”), a company based in Luxembourg.

We can confirm that there was no effective market for the products backed by SLS at the time the joint administrators were appointed.  We understand that prior to the appointment of the joint administrator the Company quoted prices and provided a limited secondary market by identifying potential acquirers through a small network of IFAs.  As far as we can tell any prices quoted were arbitrary and certainly did not reflect or indeed have any connection with the underlying asset value of the bonds.  The bonds were not listed nor traded on any recognised stock exchange.

We can also confirm that interest payments from SLS to the Company for onward payment to investors in SIB 2 were made quarterly but these payments ceased in May 2008.  We are aware that the Company made payments to investors in SIB 2 after this time – these payments were irregular and the source of the funds appears to have been the Company’s own corporate funds.”

Summary of Mrs Hattersley's position
52. Mrs Hattersley’s comments on each part of her complaint follow.  She would like IPS to restore her SIPP to the value it would have been if the Keydata SIB had not been allowed; to facilitate the transfer of her SIPP to Hargreaves Lansdown SIPP Managers and to not charge her higher fees than Hargreaves Lansdown for the period since she asked them to expedite the transfer.

Misrepresentation of relationship - Pre investment

53. She now knows the formerly associated IFA is a different company altogether although this is not what she was led to believe in 2005.  IPS introduced the formerly associated IFA as part of the same organisation and the formerly associated IFA perpetuated this impression.  As well as the July 2005 letter in which it was stated that there was a formal arrangement there were also various meetings / presentations around that time.  Hence, there were a series of misrepresentations in 2005 on which she relied in her dealings with the formerly associated IFA.

54. IPS says that in 2005 there was no connection between IPS and the formerly associated IFA but that does not square with what was said, written and done in 2005.  They also say they do not share their offices within anyone else but that one employee of the formerly associated IFA worked from their premises.
55. The position of IPS amounts to some contradictory statements which lie unresolved.  This investigation does not seem to have established exactly what the relationship between the two companies was in 2005 and so she is no nearer to understanding what the relationship was that facilitated the transfer of sections of IPS’s client base to another firm.  Thus, she feels this cannot be a satisfactory platform for any concluding remarks.
56. In the timeline of events leading up to the investment a letter was sent on 26 July 2005 from IPS, which appears to have been part of a fairly wide mailing to its client base, in which IPS selected some, but not all, of its client base to be passed to the formerly associated IFA.  A ‘client list’ is a valuable asset and the notion that IPS would pass it to an unconnected firm for no commercial benefit seems very unlikely.

57. IPS misrepresented its relationship with the formerly associated IFA.  Additionally, she considers they facilitated the marketing of the Keydata SIB (IPS) and acted beyond their retainer as SIPP providers with maladministration through product bias.  By providing a selection of their client list to be marketed details of the Keydata SIB and in performing a role progressing the resulting instructions from clients (whether for a commercial benefit or not) IPS participated in a financial promotion for which they did not have the relevant regulatory permissions.

58. The July 2005 letter explains a ‘formalized arrangement’ existed between the two companies and from her earlier discussions, including the fact the two shared similar names, the same office, etc she was lead to believe in 2005 that IPS and the formerly associated IFA were in common ownership and part of the same large group (i.e. IFG Group plc).  The marketing of the Keydata SIB (IPS) presumably occurred under the terms of the formalized arrangement mentioned in that letter.  The nature of that formalized arrangement has not been explained.  But one could see how IPS might not properly scrutinize the eligibility of investments generated from this ‘formalized arrangement’ to the detriment of SIPP members.  Improper cosy relationships like this lead to a lack of rigour in regulated firms discharging their duties to clients.  If there was a commercial arrangement / benefit (which IPS has not explained and now deny existed) to IPS arising from sales to the clients she says this is bias and maladministration.

59. Her understanding is that IPS had already considered and approved the product for inclusion in her SIPP before July 2005, supported by the fact that the formerly associated IFA sent a pre-printed form marked for IPS’s attention giving instructions to invest.  Those forms must have been developed by IPS or with IPS’s involvement.  That form was not the application form for Keydata SIB (IPS) because that form needed to be completed by the Scheme’s professional trustees once they were satisfied the product was eligible for a SIPP.  She did not send the Keydata SIB brochure or the Keydata application form to IPS.  As IPS was involved with the marketing of the product to their clients IPS had these materials.

60. She had used IPS for a number of years for her SIPP provider and trusted them.  Her belief that IPS had sanctioned the Keydata SIB and they were apparently associated with the product was a significant factor that led her to apply to make an investment in it.  By involving themselves in the marketing of this product to a selection of their clients IPS had a heightened duty of care.

61. As a result a substantial amount of investment was made into the IPS version of the Keydata SIB on the advice of the formerly associated IFA.

62. The FSA’s finalised guidance, dated April 2012, on traded life policy investments strongly recommends that these should not reach the vast majority of retail clients.  In part 4 the FSA says “Our work has found significant problems with the way in which many TLPIs are designed, marketed, and sold to UK retail clients.  These products are complex and high risk, and are unsuitable for the vast majority of retail clients”.

63. She now understands that the two firms (IPS and the formerly associated IFA) worked together to select the clients of IPS that they wanted to sell the IPS version of the Keydata SIB to and she (and her husband) numbered among those targeted.  Their comments in their letter of 5 January 2011 that the investment was not an esoteric investment shows they did review the product and formed a view of it.  They knew clients they had selected would be marketed this product and she believes this crosses the line into taking a view on suitability.  IPS may have exceeded their retainer in forming a view at all, but in any event that view was entirely wrong.  As a consequence IPS facilitated the marketing of an ineligible, complex and high risk product (referred by the FSA as ‘toxic’) to her as a retail client.

Eligibility of investment

64. It is established that she invested in Issue 1 of the Keydata SIB (IPS) which was much the same as the non‑IPS Keydata SIB version.  Previously she believed the IPS version was a different product and has referred to it as so in past correspondence.  However, she now believes from speaking with PwC that the IPS version may be just a branded version of what Keydata were providing.  She believes the difference in coupon for the IPS version arose through Keydata sacrificing some of their trail commission

65. IPS attempt to ‘muddy the waters’ regarding due diligence by introducing confusion over investment ‘suitability’ and ‘eligibility’ for a SIPP.  This complaint is not about suitability, which might well require substantial amounts of time and effort to research, assessing risk/rewards and her needs.  She does not suggest IPS should normally conduct ‘due diligence’ on behalf of her in relation to her investments.  Her point is ‘eligibility’ is an absolute criterion of strict liability.  An investment either meets the SIPP legislation or it doesn’t.

66. She notes that IPS has supplied a copy of the 1995 booklet but this is not a ‘terms’ document.  IPS has stated that their role “was to ensure the investment was eligible and permissible for a SIPP”.  So IPS accepts its role is simply to determine whether an investment is eligible.  She asserts their obligation is to require sufficient evidence to be provided to them (if they don’t feel inclined to research themselves) until they are able to make a judgement on eligibility to a diligent professional level.

67. The legal framework for Trustees, which existed prior to the specific regulation of SIPPs in April 2007, has not been taken into account.  Comments about obligations arising from the Trustee Act 2000 (sections 1.1(b) and 5) have been made but for the reasons explained in the conclusions below they are not expanded upon here.

68. Specific statements that the investment ‘was’ to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange have been made by IPS in May 2012.  This carries the obvious risk that the aforementioned future listing might never take place as planned listings often fail to materialize.  Indeed, that is how it turned out.  IPS were therefore negligent in not requiring evidence that the underlying ‘Permitted Investments’ were already suitably listed before the investment was accepted by the SIPP.

69. This investment has been described in past correspondence as a structured product, however the Keydata SIB was not a structured product although Keydata Investments Services Ltd were known for providing structured products.

70. Section 4 of the Terms & Conditions of the Keydata SIB 1 (IPS) product brochure covers ‘Permitted Investments’ (see paragraph 7 above).  The Keydata SIB was simply an account with Keydata to purchase a Bond, i.e. an instrument of debt.  Keydata’s function was as the purchasing agent of the ‘Permitted Investment’ for her SIPP.  This interpretation of what professional people in 2005 should have understood of the Keydata SIB from reading the brochure has been accepted by the High Court in the Judicial Review – R (on the application of ABS Financial Planning Limited and others) v Financial Services Compensation Scheme [2011] EWHC 18.

71. It is IPS’s responsibility and duty to ensure investments in her SIPP comply with the SIPP eligibility rules.  Specifically that investments fall into one of the permitted investment classes listed in the 2001 Regulations.

72. There is a confusion arising from the difference between the Keydata SIB and the underlying Bond (the SLS Bond).  A crucial point that IPS seems not to recognise is that the Keydata SIB was not the same thing as the (SLS) Bond that was supposed to be listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange.  They are different products as acknowledged by the FSA.  The brochure does not state anywhere that the Keydata SIB would be listed on a recognised exchange.  That the brochure states the (SLS) Bond was listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange is not enough on its own to conclude, neither does it make, the Keydata SIB was an eligible product for a SIPP according to the HMRC rules in 2005.
73. The terms and conditions of the Keydata SIB product explain the Keydata SIB was not the Bond listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange and that “Securities” does not mean the same thing as “SIB” or “Secure Income Bond”.  The 5th and 6th sections of the terms and conditions clearly explain that the Keydata SIB (IPS) product was not the Bond listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange,  Further, the SIB product would contain the Bond (Issuer unidentified) and cash to meet the aims of the SIB.

74. She accepts that IPS would not have known from reading the brochure in 2005 that the “Bond Issuer” was SLS Capital.

75. She asserts IPS failed to discriminate between the two products.  That led IPS to decide the unlisted Keydata SIB was eligible for SIPPs based on the supposed listed status of the (SLS) Bond.  If IPS relied on that they might have assumed that the ‘Bond listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange (i.e. the (SLS) Bond), may be eligible for a SIPP.  However, she says IPS could not simply extend the judgement about the (SLS) Bond to include the product his SIPP was invested in – the Keydata SIB.

76. HMRC rules concerning eligibility of investments for SIPPs apply to the legal form of the actual headline product that is to be invested in – not aspects of underlying investments.

77. The relationship between the Keydata SIB product and the SLS product and the interaction of ownership between them is not described in the Keydata brochure.  This knowledge would be crucial in determining if the Keydata SIB itself met the HMRC rules on eligibility.  For instance, the letter from PwC of 2 April 2013 explains the Keydata SIB could be traded informally through Keydata off-exchange and quite independently of any trade in the (SLS) Bond whether it was listed on the Luxembourg exchange or not.
78. IPS has previously stated the IPS version of the Keydata SIB was a bond listed on a recognised Stock Exchange and so met the criteria.  This is not so.  The bond was a product from a small unregulated private company incorporated in Luxembourg but the bond was not listed on any Stock Exchange and so the product does not fall into any of the permitted investment classes.  Correspondence of 27 April 2012 from the FSA and 2 April 2013 from PwC refer.

79. IPS has confirmed more recently that they decided the Keydata SIB was eligible based on reviewing the brochure, though they did not say what part of which brochure.  IPS did not seek advice (contrary to section 5 of the Trustee Act 2000) and they should have done particularly as this was a novel ‘traded life policy’ product that was not tried and tested which has since been banned by the FSA.  The failure by IPS to seek appropriate advice on eligibility of the Keydata SIB needs to be explored.
80. The Keydata SIB brochure itself is contradictory throughout as to the character and identity of the actual investment.  An example is the second paragraph from page 3 (again see paragraph 7 above for details).

81. Such a theme continues through most of the brochure and from that a person would gather the underlying assets were cash and insurance contracts.  This of course directly contradicts the definition provided for the Permitted Investments which was a single unidentified and uncharacterized offshore Bond, i.e. an instrument of debt.  The Keydata SIB brochure (the formerly associated IFA version) is unclear and does not provide enough information on its own for IPS, as the SIPP administrator, to decide whether the Keydata SIB product met the rules on eligibility or not.  They were negligent to rely solely on the brochure.
82. The legislation in force in 2005 relating to permitted investments for SIPPs was restrictive concerning instruments of debt.  The contradictory and opaque content of the brochure would make it impossible for a diligent SIPP provider to form a judgement as to whether the investment was eligible for inclusion in a SIPP or not.  They should therefore have required conclusive evidence to be provided.  Such evidence, if it existed, would have been easy to locate by IPS, Mrs Hattersley or her advisor.

83. In the event, IPS did not even ask for the Keydata SIB brochure from her before they filled in the Keydata SIB application form and wrote out a cheque for the SIPP in autumn 2005.  She understands that was because IPS had already considered and approved the Keydata SIB in the summer of 2005, even before passing / supplying her details to the formerly associated IFA.  IPS already had brochures and application forms at the ready.

84. The lack of clarity in the Keydata SIB brochure over the ‘permitted investments’ should have caused IPS to ask of whomever they were dealing with in the summer of 2005 (she assumes the formerly associated IFA or Keydata) to provide further clear evidence that the product was eligible for a SIPP.  She suggests that such evidence would be the appearance of the investment on the lists of a recognised stock exchange or at least sight of the prospectus that is a requirement for an imminent listing.  Of course, it would have been impossible for anybody to provide IPS with clear evidence that the investment was eligible for a SIPP as the ‘permitted investments’ were never listed (as supported by the evidence submitted from the FSA and PwC) nor was there ever any commitment to do so.

85. As to her own reliance on the brochure, she naturally considered its content as a lay person.  Unlike IPS she had no professional responsibility for judgements on eligibility, for that she relied on IPS (and Union Pension Trustees).
86. A number of SIPP providers, including HL, faced with the Keydata brochures in 2005 did not accept the Keydata SIB as eligible for a SIPP.  However, if other SIPP providers did also accept the Keydata SIB as eligible this does not excuse IPS in their negligence.

87. The Bonds were issued by SLS Capital S.A, a private Luxembourg company which is now in liquidation.  The liquidator is a firm of lawyers called Baden and Baden and they have a web page on SLS Capital.  In terms of the remaining value in the SLS Bond, the Baden website says “At this stage and with all due precaution, it does not appear that there are any remaining assets left”.

88. She feels that by partaking in the selection of her to be targeted for this toxic product and allowing this ineligible product to be included in her SIPP IPS is responsible for the loss of investment, which should not have been in her SIPP.

89. Had IPS performed their ‘gatekeeper’ role diligently they would have easily seen there was no simple clear evidence to demonstrate the investment was eligible and they would have (and should have) refused it.  She asserts this is negligence by IPS in the performance of this straightforward role on eligibility.

90. IPS makes a defence that it was not responsible for the performance of the Keydata SIB and so is not liable for the consequences of it.  However, she feels that the negligence and maladministration of IPS in legal terms was the ‘proximate cause’ of the SIPP’s losses.  That is these losses would not have occurred ‘but for’ the negligence and / or maladministration of IPS.  Beyond establishing the proximate cause she does not accept the arguments offered by IPS and is prepared to argue concepts of causation and remoteness, if required.  Given the evidence she has not made such arguments unless the Ombudsman considers these are pivotal issues.

91. However, she does point to the lack of listing on a recognised stock exchange and the consequent lack of required reporting and governance which as it turns out was a direct cause of the loss in value of the investment.

92. It has been suggested that she claim for this loss under the FSCS.  Keydata is one of the biggest investment failures in recent years and affected about 25,000 UK citizens (mainly ISA investments).  Losses to investors stem from failures of an assortment of entities in their duties to investors.  These include Keydata itself, but also ISA and SIPP providers, independent financial advisers, the Bond Issuer, counter-parties associated with the Bond Issuer, and even the FSA.  They have all been identified as having a responsibility for investor losses.  It is an investor’s legal right to bring a complaint against whichever party seems to the investor to be liable.  It is not sufficient for a defendant to point out there may be other parties with liability to avoid the consequences of their own culpability.

93. She has not brought any claim for compensation to the FSCS in respect of her IPS SIPP.  The FSCS can only consider claims in respect to civil liability that Keydata owes.  Keydata was not responsible for the eligibility of the product into a SIPP.  Additionally, any claim to the FSCS would neither deal with the misrepresentation aspects of her complaint nor deal with the non-transferability of her SIPP between SIPP providers.
94. The rules of the FSCS are detailed in the COMP section of the FCA.  Turning to comments from IPS on their letter of January 2011 about the FSCS, FSCS can only entertain a claim based on strict liability by an eligible claimant against a firm in default.

95. In this case the complexity of the factual matrix means it is possible for different claimants to bring different eligible claims to FSCS in respect of the Keydata default, simply because Keydata got a lot of things wrong (e.g. based on misrepresentations in the brochure relating to suitability, which would not require the involvement of the SIPP provider).  However, this complaint is not about suitability, but ‘eligibility’.  A potential claim standing on that separate strand of misrepresentation by Keydata must be brought to the FSCS in the name of the entity with the responsibility for SIPP eligibility, i.e. IPS / UPT.  The FSCS will never accept a claim based on the performance of an investment in the way IPS has described.

96. If the Ombudsman upholds this complaint she hopes IPS will be required to restore her SIPP to a position she would have been in if the Keydata SIB investment had not been allowed so that she may transfer away to a more competitive provider, and without reference to the FSCS.

97. If the Ombudsman decides that IPS should be allowed to attempt to recoup the compensation from the FSCS, she is willing to assist IPS / the Trustees in making an application to the FSCS in the name of the Trustees for that purpose.

98. In the alternative, if the Ombudsman decides that IPS was reasonable in its reliance on the Keydata brochure and in its conduct in facilitating the sales of the Keydata SIB investments she believes, in that event, the potential for a claim to the FSCS certainly arises.  Indeed, it is the fiduciary duty of IPS / the Trustees to do that, so as to mitigate the loss to the SIPP.  The statements in the Keydata brochure that the underlying Bond was intended to be listed and the product could be brought through a SIPP are false.  Notwithstanding that IPS have not disclosed precisely what they relied on in forming their view on the product and its eligibility, there is evidence showing Keydata knew these statements were not true when the brochures were released in 2005.  So it might be argued with the FSCS these are fraudulent misrepresentations establishing a civil liability between Keydata and the SIPP upon which compensation would be awarded.

99. For the above reasons, a claim to the FSCS based on such misrepresentations must be brought to the FSCS by and in the name of IPS / the Trustees since they are the proper claimant for a civil liability based on eligibility issues.  She has no responsibility for eligibility.  Further, she did not complete and sign the Keydata SIB application form for the investment into the SIPP – directors of UPT did that.  The contractual nexus is between Keydata and IPS / UPT.

100. She thinks IPS admits such a claim could be brought to the FSCS as described by her but they do not want to in case it prejudices some other Scheme members’ future need to claim.  That position is a complete breach of the fiduciary duty IPS / UPT owe to her.
101. If it is concluded that IPS was reasonable in deciding the Keydata SIB met the eligibility requirements of HMRC then such a decision would appear to be based on the old Financial Services Authority’s Conduct of Business (“COB”) rule 2.3.3 R which said “A firm will be taken to be in compliance with any rule in COB that requires a firm to obtain information to the extent that the firm can show that it was reasonable for the firm to rely on information provided to it in writing by another person”.  Since IPS was not regulated she does not see the relevance of this.  Further IPS’s obligations at that time (pre April 2007) sprang from the Trustee Act 2000 and not

102. IPS’s decision was the proximate cause of the investment being made and IPS should restore his SIPP to the value it would have had if only eligible investments had been permitted.
Transferring SIPP

103. It is proving impossible to move her SIPP to another provider since other SIPP providers she has canvassed refuse to accept her SIPP with the ineligible investment product in it.

104. IPS are also responsible for the difficulties in moving her SIPP to another provider that she is currently experiencing and the comparatively high fees IPS are charging her compared to other SIPP providers.  The cost is over £300 a year.

Sharing of data

105. She knows that her details and records with IPS have been freely shared with the formerly associated IFA.  One of the first steps she took was to ask both IPS and the formerly associated IFA for a copy of her file by means of a ‘Subject Data Request’.  The response from the formerly associated IFA was less than she had expected with correspondence passed on the extent of their obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998.  Ultimately this led to the intervention of the Information Commissioner’s Office (“ICO”).  The ICO only have remit to encourage registered data controllers to comply with their obligations under the DPA 1998 and the ICO’s sole recourse was to strike a data controller off the register for persistent breaches.  The ICO made it clear that they do not have a remit for enforcing remedies for breaches under the DPA 1998 whether that be a money claim or otherwise.  The ICO explained that redress for losses connected to breaches of the DPA 1998 must be made by injured parties through the courts or parallel justice systems (such as the Pensions Ombudsman).

Summary of IPS Pensions Limited’s position
106. They made a previous submission to FOS about this complaint and their position remains unchanged, in that they refute Mrs Hattersley’s claim.  They do not believe there is any validity in the claim that Mrs Hattersley makes against IPS.  They did not provide the investment into Keydata or recommend or comment on its suitability, and IPS is neither regulated nor authorised to do so.

107. In the early stages of this investigation IPS submitted that the Keydata investment that Mrs Hattersley chose was not ineligible.  Mrs Hattersley was solely responsible for the choice of investment and for taking professional financial advice from a firm that was regulated and authorised to provide such a service.

108. They have located various brochures and terms and conditions for Keydata’s range of products.  The brochures for the Keydata SIB (Issues 1, 2, and 3) say on page 3 in the section entitled “benefits at a glance” that “Tax savings through … Self Invested Personal Pension”.  Further the terms and conditions say on page 14 in section 1 under definitions for “Securities” Bond listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  As far as they are concerned the Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a commercially recognised and the investment was eligible.

Eligibility of investment

109. Having now seen the correspondence from the FSA of 27 April 2012 and PwC of 2 April 2013, IPS says they did not conduct any due diligence of the Keydata SIB on behalf of Mrs Hattersley.  The claim against them would seem to have been made with the benefit of hindsight and information that has come to light only in the aftermath of the Keydata episode.  Specifically, the claim now appears to hinge on literature that was contemporaneously accepted by SIPP providers and investors at the time as accurate (including they presume Mrs Hattersley in her private capacity).

110. Their role was to ensure the investment was eligible and permissible for a SIPP.  In doing so, they reasonably relied, as would any investor or pension provider, on the investment provider’s literature.

111. Investment providers are bound by their regulators to ensure that their literature and key features are clear.  The literature in this case clearly sets out that the investment was listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  They referred to HMRC’s IR76 document and fairly and logically concluded that the investment was thusly eligible and permissible for inclusion within a SIPP.

112. Given the pre-Pension Simplification “permitted investments list” with which the industry was naturally familiar this was a very simple exercise.  It was not intended to supplement or replicate the due diligence that advisors and investors were legitimately expected to undertake regarding the suitability and structure of the investment.

113. Crucially, neither this nor the fact of whether or not the investment was ultimately traded via a recognised stock exchange had any material bearing on the success or failure of the investment.  The Keydata investment did not fail because it was not traded on a recognised stock exchange and they would therefore submit that this line of argument is obfuscation that detracts from the true nature of the complaint.

114. Conversely, it seems clear that any consideration of this claim for redress must be considered in the context of whether the financial / investment advice received was suitable and to a lesser extent, whether the investment provider’s literature was misleading.

115. IPS Pensions are not investment experts or advisers and are quite understandably reliant on the literature provided by investment providers.  IPS Pensions is not authorised or regulated to provide advice.  The suitability of the investment was a matter for the Member and their advisor to satisfy themselves of.

116. They suggest that Mrs Hattersley’s investment did not fail because of any action or inaction on the part of them.  By extension, it would seem inequitable to suggest that they bear any liability for the losses that Mrs Hattersley’s pension fund has incurred and IPS Pensions do not understand why she has not pursued her financial advisers if she believes the advice with which she was provided was unsuitable.

117. The FSA’s website indicates that investors in the Keydata SIB should approach the FSCS.  IPS is not responsible in any way for the corporate failure of the Keydata investment and cannot be reasonably expected to have to stand in place of the FSCS which was set up specifically to provide for these instances of corporate failure.

118. Putting aside its previous comments about the correct claimants in any claim to the FSCS, they could in principal approach the FSCS in respect of losses to Mrs Hattersley.  However, they do not believe that doing so would achieve the result that they suspect she would hope for.

119. For the avoidance of doubt, were they to submit a claim to the FSCS it would be on behalf of Mrs Hattersley.  Consequently the FSCS would still treat the claim as one on behalf of the individual beneficiaries of the Scheme meaning it would potentially compromise – or be compromised by – any claims for losses incurred outside the SIPP.

120. They cannot submit a claim to the FSCS on behalf of the Scheme itself as to do so would invalidate the right of recourse for every other Scheme Member.  This is because the maximum protection afforded by the FSCS per single claim would be proportionately spread across every single Scheme Member’s assets as the FSCS would treat the claim as a single claim on behalf of every Member of the Scheme.  Clearly this would be an untenable proposition.

Transferring SIPP

121. A transfer to a new scheme could theoretically proceed.  Such a transfer would necessitate all the stakeholders involved accepting the Keydata SIB has no value; in which case the remaining pension fund could be transferred to another provider, constituting as it would at the time, the full material value of the client’s (fully) vested pension fund.  This would not then contradict HMRC’s rules concerning and preventing the partial transfer of plans in drawdown.  However, they would not be without possible complications if monies were realised at a future time in respect of the failed investments.

Data sharing

122. With regard to the issue of data sharing, this has been covered at length in their correspondence with Mrs Hattersley.

Conclusions

123. During these proceedings the parties have made numerous comments about which entity should or could bring a claim to the FSCS in order to gain redress.  Nonetheless this issue does not form part of Mrs Hattersley’s complaint to me and I note she wishes to discuss this matter further with IPS.  Accordingly, I make no findings in relation to it.
Misrepresentation of relationship

124. In correspondence with IPS in 2010 Mrs Hattersley originally queried the fact that her identity and other details had been passed to the formerly associated IFA in 2004/05.  She has not brought that specific complaint to me but, in any event, she would not be able to bring such a complaint now for the reasons explained in paragraph 2 above.  Instead, one aspect of Mrs Hattersley’s complaint is that she feels the relationship between IPS and the formerly associated IFA as originally presented to her in 2005 was misrepresented.  Letters from IPS dated 26 July 2005 and from the formerly associated IFA dated 30 November 2004 have been submitted by Mrs Hattersley to demonstrate how their relationship was portrayed to her.  I also observe that reference has been made to verbal presentations at meetings (and in particular a meeting on 29 March 2005 at the offices of IPS at which an employee (JF) of the formerly associated IFA attended).  She has set out numerous submissions in connection with this matter some of which appear to argue that IPS was involved to some degree in the marketing and selling of the Keydata SIB investment and thus has a duty of care towards her.
125. Mrs Hattersley says that if this aspect of her complaint is not within my jurisdiction she feels that is all that should be said.  Her complaint that “IPS misrepresented their relationship with the formerly associated IFA” does, in its simplest form, come within my jurisdiction provided it is narrowly interpreted from an administrative perspective.  On that basis I cannot therefore say that this aspect of her complaint is out of my jurisdiction completely.

126. However, apart from considering whether or not there was a misrepresentation I would also need to consider whether it was reasonable to rely on such a misrepresentation and, if so, whether such representation induced someone to act to their detriment.

127. Mrs Hattersley submits she trusted IPS and as a consequence of their involvement a substantial amount was invested in the Keydata SIB based on the advice of the formerly associated IFA.  I consider that I may decide whether the action of taking advice is acting to her detriment.  But consideration of any argument beyond that point and to the advice itself (whether good, bad or indifferent) is outside my jurisdiction because it is not my role to consider advice and, in any event, the advice was given by the formerly associated IFA who, as a financial adviser, is not within my jurisdiction.

128. Mrs Hattersley clearly feels that the way IPS and the formerly associated IFA were presented to her in 2005 was misleading.  In support of that she says the formerly associated IFA shared IPS’s offices in Bristol, had very similar logos and letter-headed notepaper and appeared to work seamlessly together.
129. Although Mrs Hattersley says that the formerly associated IFA is a different company altogether, it was always a company in its own right and a different legal entity.  What Mrs Hattersley seems to be saying is that the formerly associated IFA was not part of the same group of companies as IPS in 2005.  So I need to consider if IPS made a representation in 2005 that the formerly associated IFA was part of the same group of companies as IPS.

130. Since IPS and the formerly associated IFA were until 1998 part of the same group of companies, it is not perhaps surprising that their corporate presentation / style (i.e. “IPS” logos) on their letter headed notepaper may have looked very similar.  After 1998 they may have retained their existing corporate identities once they went their own way.  But I cannot say that this on its own was misleading or amounted to a misrepresentation by IPS.

131. Turning to the letter of 30 November 2004 it is unclear why the formerly associated IFA still had IPS’s address shown on their letter headed notepaper in 2004 when there was no longer a common ownership of the two companies.  IPS’s then address in Bristol was a building from which many companies could trade from different office floors.  Nonetheless, I understand that the formerly associated IFA did not operate from there, although they did have one employee (AW) who worked out of IPS’s offices in Bristol because he had done so prior to 1998 and lived nearby.  the formerly associated IFA’s notepaper may have given the impression that the companies were linked as a result of them supposedly operating from the same address in Bristol but that would be a representation by the formerly associated IFA (who is not a party to this complaint) rather than IPS.
132. I can only reach a conclusion on the evidence before me.  Although Mrs Hattersley has also referred to verbal presentations at meetings, I have seen no notes or other evidence about discussions from those meetings on which I am able to form a judgement.

133. Turning to the mailing of 26 July 2005, this gave clients 21 days to notify IPS if they did not want their details passed to the formerly associated IFA with the clear inference that if they did not reply to IPS within that timescale this would be taken as consent (i.e. implied rather than explicit) for IPS to pass on their details (i.e. name and address) – notwithstanding that Mrs Hattersley appears to have already been referred to the formerly associated IFA in late 2004 when seeking information in connection with annuities, though no action seems to have been taken with regard to that information from the formerly associated IFA.
134. It seems likely that the mailing of 26 July 2005 was sent to those clients of IPS who had no dedicated financial adviser or investment adviser.  That letter explained that IPS considered it appropriate and important for their clients to be informed of new deposit products and other investments but they could not offer such a service as they were not authorised to give advice on regulated products.  That position is understandable as highlighting a certain product or investment could be regarded as a recommendation and construed as giving advice.  That letter stated IPS had a formalised arrangement spanning a decade (circa 1995) with a regulated firm who could provide advice, namely the formerly associated IFA.

135. Mrs Hattersley believes this investigation has not clarified the exact relations between IPS and the formerly associated IFA in 2005.  My office has inquisitorial and investigative powers.  Enquiries have been made with IPS but evidence can only be gathered if it exists.  I appreciate that Mrs Hattersley may find the lack of evidence or explanation by IPS to be an unsatisfactory state of affairs.
136. Clearly, these two companies had a close association with each other prior to 1998 as they were sister companies.  Thereafter, IPS says they had no financial ties.  I have no reason to doubt IPS when it says that following the demerger in 1998 they no longer had common shareholders or any financial ties.

137. IPS seems to have told Mrs Hattersley’s son there was no formal business arrangement between the two companies.  Nonetheless, the letter of 26 July 2005 does state that there was a formal arrangement in place, which suggests there was still some kind of relationship in existence, and clients who required advice were referred to the formerly associated IFA.

138. IPS has acknowledged that it is unacceptable that client details should be cascaded to an unconnected firm without client consent.  They have suggested that the reason for why this happened was due to employees previously sharing a common corporate history.  So there is some evidence of a relationship post 1998 even if not a financial one.

139. Though details of this formal arrangement have not been produced and so its terms are unknown (and the email of 9 December 2010 noting an earlier conversation between IPS and Mrs Hattersley’s son casts doubt on whether there was a formal agreement), the letter says the arrangement dated back a decade, which was to a time when the two companies were associated with each other and part of the same group.  IPS may have referred clients who required advice to the formerly associated IFA when they were associated and this ‘arrangement’ (whether formal or informal) may have carried on once they went their separate ways.  The mere fact that this letter mentions there was a formalised arrangement would indicate that there were two separate legal entities; otherwise there would be no need for any arrangement.  Other than saying there is a formal arrangement, there is nothing within the context of that letter which explicitly says that these two companies are associated with each other though the common use of “IPS” in their names may have led Mrs Hattersley to assume they were.  As there were two legal entities some sort of arrangement between them would be necessary irrespective of whether IPS and the formerly associated IFA were part of the same group or not.  So I cannot see that anything can be further read into their relationship by this statement alone other than clients who required advice were referred to the formerly associated IFA because IPS could not do so.  
140. IPS provides administrative services and the formerly associated IFA provides advisory services, so the two firms are not rivals competing in the same area of work.  Despite IPS not being permitted to give financial advice Mrs Hattersley seems to believe there is some sinister purpose behind the referral of some clients by IPS.  Mrs Hattersley is clearly sceptical that IPS would not simply pass over its client base to an unconnected firm without any financial gain.  Without evidence, though, her suspicion is unfounded.  Any further investigation into the arrangement is unlikely to discover anything new and I do not think it would advance her complaint.  Mrs Hattersley clearly believed in 2005 that the two firms were associated/linked. 
141. It does not seem unreasonable that Mrs Hattersley may have assumed or believed that IPS and the formerly associated IFA were part of the same group of companies.  Nevertheless, there does not seem to be sufficient evidence for me to conclude that IPS (as opposed to the formerly associated IFA) either purposefully or wilfully held out a representation that these two companies were associated with each other in 2004 / 05.

142. But even if I concluded that IPS were wrong to pass Mrs Hattersley’s (and her husband’s) details over to the formerly associated IFA without their explicit consent and this amounted to maladministration (as opposed to any misrepresentation) the letter of 26 July 2005 also clearly says that Mrs Hattersley was under no obligation to use their (the formerly associated IFA’s) services.  While Mrs Hattersley’s past dealings with IPS may have influenced her choice of independent financial adviser (“IFA”) ultimately it was her choice/decision as to whether she wanted to engage the formerly associated IFA as her IFA or some other firm.  Further, there is no injustice caused from appointing an IFA in itself or taking advice, and the referral of Mrs Hattersley by IPS to the formerly associated IFA did not replace Mrs Hattersley’s subsequent decision to appoint the formerly associated IFA as her IFA or make IPS responsible for any advice given by the formerly associated IFA.
143. Mrs Hattersley accepts that she decided to invest in the Keydata SIB following advice from the formerly associated IFA in 2005.  However Mrs Hattersley appears to argue that she only relied on the advice from the formerly associated IFA because she thought that the formerly associated IFA was part of IPS.  She feels that she was misled into believing these two companies were part of the same group, which they were until 1998.

144. But for Mrs Hattersley to effectively argue a position that she would have trusted (and acted on) that advice from a financial adviser belonging to the formerly associated IFA if associated/connected to IPS or its parent company (IFG Group plc), as she believed it was, but she would not have done so from a financial adviser (particularly a smaller firm) unconnected to IPS or the larger IFG Group plc is not logical.  I am not persuaded that it is reasonable for Mrs Hattersley to argue that she would not have accepted advice from a financial adviser unconnected to IPS just because it was not connected to IPS.

145. Irrespective of whether or not they were part of the same group, the formerly associated IFA is a regulated firm and is authorised to give financial advice, and Mrs Hattersley accepted their advice and acted on it.  It was, however, always open to Mrs Hattersley not to accept the advice that she was given.  I do not see why the fact that the formerly associated IFA was no longer connected to IPS should make any difference as to the quality of the advice, or whether or not Mrs Hattersley should have accepted the advice itself.  Indeed, there is no evidence that the previous advice given in 2004 about purchasing an annuity was accepted.  It seems too remote to stretch a link between any decision about whether or not to take the advice offered in 2005, with the decision to appoint the IFA based on any perceived relationship between IPS and the formerly associated IFA.
146. But, in any event, such arguments strike me as being about whether she would have bought the investment in the first place.  As it has been explained to Mrs Hattersley by the FOS, I have powers to consider complaints about the administration and running of pension schemes.  However, my role is confined to the administration aspects of pension schemes.  Issues surrounding the marketing / selling of pensions or investments is a matter for FOS.  So any attempt to suggest that IPS facilitated the marketing / selling of this product and so had a duty of care resulting from the sale (advice) of this product is not something about the administration of the Scheme itself and falls outside of my jurisdiction.

147. Notwithstanding the above, Mrs Hattersley has stressed that her complaint against IPS is not about the advice or suitability of the investment but IPS’s role to determine that the investment was a ‘permitted investment’ for her SIPP.  That issue is a matter concerned with the administration of the pension scheme which I deal with below.

Eligibility of investment

148. It is not in dispute that IPS was required to check that the Keydata investment was eligible and permissible for a SIPP.  However, the parties disagree over how and to what extent that should have been done.

149. The investment into the Keydata SIB product was made in 2005.  Prior to 6 April 2007 SIPPs had essentially been unregulated.  It was only after this date that all SIPPs had to be authorised and regulated by the FSA, adding another layer of compliance and administration on SIPP providers.  FSA regulation has nonetheless, on the whole, generally been accepted to be a good measure by the pensions industry.  So SIPP providers have to do far more ‘post-regulation’ than they did before April 2007. 

150. From the available evidence, it is clear to me that the Keydata SIB investment was made in 2005 by Mrs Hattersley after she had received and accepted the advice of the formerly associated IFA.  That investment decision had therefore been made by Mrs Hattersley when there had been a lower level of regulation of SIPPs by the FSA and the duty to undertake ‘due diligence’ on investments had been less stringent.  Given the events in question pre-date FSA regulation I need to consider what could be reasonably expected of IPS in relation to the specific task that they had to do.

151. As an aside, throughout 2011 when dealing with Mrs Hattersley IPS maintain that the investment was eligible because the Bond was listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange and that continues to be their position.  However, in their correspondence of May 2012 to my office they did write on one occasion “the Bond was to be (my emphasis) listed …” and Mrs Hattersley has picked up on those comments and made one submission in relation to the future tense.  Clearly what views IPS formed in 2005 based on the evidence they had then (rather than anything they wrote in 2012) is the critical issue.
152. Mrs Hattersley contends that prior to any specific regulations of SIPPs in 2007 there were obligations on professional trustees concerning trust management arising from the Trustee Act 2000.  She refers me to section 1.1(b).  She also submits an extract from Chapter 29 of this Act and the law relating to trustees and persons having the investment powers of trustees; and connected persons.  In particular, she has referred to section 5 (advice) and argues that IPS did not take advice about the eligibility of the Kaydata SIB.

153. However, IPS is neither a trustee nor a body having investment powers of trustees for the SIPP and she is not correct to say IPS are professional trustees specializing in trust management.  For the purpose of the Member’s Fund the joint trustees are Union Pension Trustees Limited and Mrs Hattersley.  Investment decisions are taken by the Member, as a trustee, after taking whatever advice is necessary.  IPS carries out the day-to-day administration under the SIPP and their role is confined to that of an administrator rather than a trustee.

154. Even if section 5 did apply to IPS (which is doubtful), section 5(3) says “The exception is that a trustee need not obtain such advice if he reasonably concludes that in all the circumstances it is unnecessary or inappropriate to do so”,
155. The only obligation placed on IPS at the time was to assess whether the proposed investment into the Keydata SIB met the HMRC requirements and statutory provisions.

156. IPS were under no obligation to monitor Keydata Investment Services Ltd and, indeed, without proper cause, to question their integrity or professionalism.  Keydata Investment Services Ltd was properly authorised by the FSA.

157. Mrs Hattersley clearly feels that IPS should have conducted diligent checks which went beyond checking the product provider’s literature.  However, I do not agree.  As the investments were made before April 2007, in my view, the basic checks which IPS says it undertook at the time were therefore sufficient to meet the requirements imposed on them by HMRC for such investments.

158. Although IPS have not been able to produce contemporaneous evidence showing that such basic checks were carried out in 2005, this does not mean that they were not done.  It seems IPS were satisfied from the product provider’s literature that this particular investment was eligible and having done so they considered clients could make such an investment.  So I do not consequently find that a lack of evidence of the checks constitutes maladministration on the part of IPS.

159. Mrs Hattersley mistakenly believes my decision stems from the old FSA COB rule 2.3.3 R and has queried its relevance as IPS was not regulated.  In forming my view I have not considered if IPS met that rule because, as Mrs Hattersley has correctly pointed out, IPS was not regulated and so it is not relevant.  My decision is based on whether I consider there was any fault by IPS, which could be deemed to be maladministration, in the way it reached its decision that the Keydata SIB met the permitted investment requirements and was eligible for a SIPP.  Any similarity between the view I reached on this issue of whether there has been maladministration and any old FSA COB is purely coincidental.

160. Keydata Investment Services Limited had responsibility for the product literature and this clearly stated that the securities for the SIB were a Bond listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  Evidence that Mrs Hattersley’s son has obtained from the FSA and PwC in 2012 and 2013 has since confirmed that that was not so.  But any failure linked to the Bond not being listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange must either lay with the Bond issuer or with Keydata Investment Services Ltd for purchasing a Bond that was not quoted on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  Keydata designed the product and distributed it, and their literature stated that they acted as Mrs Hattersley’s (and the other trustee’s) agent in the purchasing of the Bond(s).  If those Bonds were not purchased in accordance with the terms and conditions of the product then Mrs Hattersley and UPT (as co-trustees) may have recourse to Keydata.

161. Mrs Hattersley considers it essential that there is some acknowledgement that the Keydata SIB and the underlying Bond were different products/investments.  I accept that these products/investments were two different vehicles.  But I do not see how that fact advances her case.

162. Mrs Hattersley places emphasis on the Keydata SIB and the underlying Bond being not the same thing and that the brochure does not state that the Keydata SIB would be listed on an exchange.  Further, IPS’s failure to discriminate between the two products/investments led them to decide the unlisted Keydata SIB was eligible based on the supposed listing of the underlying (SLS) Bond.  She argues that the actual headline product (i.e. the Keydata SIB) needs to meet the criteria for being a permitted investment under HMRC’s rules and not aspects of the underlying investments.

163. The permitted investments for SIPPs are set out in Appendix 24 of HMRC’s IR76 but this document is merely for guidance (as opposed to being the law).  Whilst an administrator needs to have regard for any guidance, it is the statutory legislation, in particular the 2001 Regulations (see paragraph 3 above), which sets out the legal position.

164. The 2001 Regulations allows an investment to be held both directly and indirectly (my emphasis).  Mrs Hattersley’s SIPP invested in the Keydata SIB which, in turn, was meant to invest in cash and the underlying (SLS) Bond.  So Mrs Hattersley’s SIPP was meant to invest indirectly in a permitted investment (i.e. the Bond listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange).  Given this, it does not seem unreasonable for anyone to conclude that the Keydata SIB was eligible because the SIPP’s indirect investments would be permissible (had the Bond been listed).

165. I observe that Mrs Hattersley also refers to the main part of the brochure mentioning investments in cash and insurance contracts and asserts the Keydata SIB brochure is unclear and insufficient to have enabled IPS to have decided whether the Keydata SIB product met the eligibility criteria.  Investors invested in the Keydata SIB which, in turn, supposedly invested in cash and the underlying Bond.  In effect monies were lent to the Bond Issuer who, in turn, used the money to hold cash and buy/sell traded insurance contracts.  Investors needed to know what the Bond Issuer was using their money for and how the returns from the (SLS) Bond, on which the Keydata SIB was reliant, would be generated.  The general description in the main part of the brochure were given for that purpose, but it does not change the fact that the Keydata SIB stated it was investing in a Bond listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange.
166. The evidence therefore falls short of establishing that injustice was caused to Mrs Hattersley as a result of any failure on the part of IPS to exercise due care and diligence in the conduct of business with her. They are consequently, in my opinion, not liable for any loss in the value of her SIPP investments.

Prevention of transferring to another provider

167. There is a wide spectrum among SIPP operators ranging from those who will accept all sorts of investment in their SIPP wrapper to those who limit the investments to tried and tested assets.

168. It is unclear whether IPS takes a more or less conservative line than other providers in what they allow in their SIPPs.  However, subject to any regulatory requirements they are perfectly entitled to make a commercial decision about the spectrum of investments that their SIPP will accept.  But in this instance they allowed this Keydata investment in the belief that it was an eligible investment based on information they were told about it from the product provider.

169. Mrs Hattersley now wishes for her SIPP provider to be HL instead of IPS.  The prevention of such a change of SIPP provider is being caused by the ineligibility of the Keydata SIB and the fact that Mrs Hattersley is in drawdown and so cannot effect a partial transfer.  This situation cannot be resolved until the Keydata SIB investment is removed from her SIPP and how the Keydata SIB is extracted from her SIPP would need to be carefully thought through after taking advice in case it may affect the ability to bring a compensation claim in future.

170. Nevertheless, I cannot see that the prevention of transferring to another provider is the result of any maladministration by IPS.  The receiving SIPP provider appears, not unreasonably, unwilling to accept all the Scheme’s assets and this is currently preventing the transfer.  That is not the fault of IPS or of its making.

Shared sensitive information after July 2009

171. Having made a ‘Subject Access Request’, Mrs Hattersley contends that IPS shared sensitive information with the formerly associated IFA after her husband’s instructions of July 2009 that no further information should be shared with the formerly associated IFA in respect of them both.

172. To corroborate that claim, Mrs Hattersley has submitted three pieces of evidence in the form of correspondence.  Two of those items relate to her son, Dr B Hattersley, and her husband, Mr R Hattersley.  The letter relating to her son does appear to have been faxed on 16 September 2009, but it does not relate to her and I have to consider her complaint.  Similar, the handwritten note dated 22 January 2008 listing investments as at 6 April 2006 concerns her husband’s SIPP and not her’s.
173. The remaining item of evidence relates to a handwritten note of a meeting that took place on 22 February 2008 that Mrs Hattersley (and her husband) attended with IPS.  That evidence does not have any fax transmission records at the header or footer of the page.  I do not doubt Mrs Hattersley when she says that she obtained this piece of correspondence from the files of the formerly associated IFA but as this evidence is dated in early 2008 and without any other evidence I am unable to conclude that this item was passed to the formerly associated IFA after 17 July 2009.  These meeting notes could just as easily have been shared with the formerly associated IFA between 22 February 2008 and 16 July 2009.
174. In the absence of any maladministration and for the reasons above I am unable to uphold Mrs Hattersley’s complaint.
Jane Irvine 

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

17 December 2013 
Appendix

Appendix 24 of IR76 says

a24.1 PERMITTED INVESTMENTS FOR SIPPS
●
Stocks and shares listed or dealt in on any Inland Revenue recognised stock exchange (including the AIM), including

– equities

– fixed interest securities issued by governments or other bodies

– debenture stock and other loan stock

– warrants (for equities)

– permanent interest bearing shares

– convertible securities

●
…

…

●
UK based open ended investment companies (OEICs) or FSA recognised EEA member state equivalents (investments limited to stocks and shares or related warrants).

●
Insurance company managed funds and unit-linked funds, investment policies or unit linked funds of a UK insurance company or an insurance company within the EEC authorised under Article 6 of the First Life Insurance Directive 79/267/EEC.

●
UK based open ended investment companies (OEICs) or FSA recognised EEA member state equivalents (investments limited to stocks and shares or related warrants).

●
Deposit accounts held with any UK based deposit taker (as defined in section 481(2) in any currency.

…

●
Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UCITS) that is either a recognised scheme or a designated scheme within the meaning of section 86 or 87 of the Financial Services Act 1986.

…

●
Depositary Interests (including CREST Depositary Interests).

…

Appendix 25 of IR76 says,

a25.1 PROHIBITED INVESTMENTS FOR SIPPS INCLUDE
●
Premium bonds
●
Loans to any party

●
Milk quotas

●
Fishing quotas

●
Residential property (except as an element of commercial property as specified in 11.17 of Part 11)

●
Gold bullion

●
Shares traded on OFEX

●
Unlisted shares (except in a site maintenance company, for the necessary extent needed to purchase a commercial property (see 11.15) and those received as contributions in accordance with paragraph 4.32).

●
Personal chattels (e.g. paintings, antiques, fine wine and jewellery)

●
Borrowing other than that specified in 11.25,11.28 or 11.29 of Part 11
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